### IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONNIE KEITH WILLIAMS,	)			
Appellant,	) ) )			
vs.	)	CASE	NO.	SC04-857
	)			
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)			
	)			
Appellee.	)			
	)			
	)			

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407 Attorney for Ronnie Keith Williams The Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/Sixth Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600; (561) 624-6560

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and Appellee the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal and will include transcripts of pretrial hearings (Vol. 1-6),

The symbol "T" will denote the Transcripts (Vol 7-22), The symbol "SR" will denote the Supplemental Record on Appeal,

The symbol "A" will denote the Appendix to this brief.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 4, 1993, Appellant, Ronnie Keith Williams, was charged by indictment with premeditated murder R1-2. Appellant was convicted and his conviction was reversed by this Court R3-18. Jury selection on his new trial began on January 26, 2004 T1. At the close of the state's case, and at the close of all the evidence, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal T1259-60,1406. Appellant's motions were denied T1262,1406. Appellant was found guilty of murder in the first degree R437.

The jury's recommendation was 10-2 for the death penalty T1717. On April 16, 2004, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death R442-444,413-436,A. A timely notice of appeal was filed R445. This appeal follows.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### GUILT PHASE

Ruth Lawrence Ashly testified that in January of 1993 she lived at 801 Northeast 28th Street, Apartment 203, in Wilton Manors T822. Ashly resided with her son and Lisa Dyke T824. Appellant was Stephanie Lawrence's boyfriend T827. Appellant had been over to Ruth Ashly's apartment before T827. Appellant had been at Ruth Ashly's apartment on Saturday, January 23, 1993 T828-29. Ruth and Appellant had a disagreement T829. Ashly told Appellant not to return to the apartment T829. Appellant asked Ashly if she was going to tell her sister about the disagreement T830. Ashly said no T830. On January 25, 1993, there was a three-way telephone conversation among Appellant, Ashly and Stephanie Lawrence T831. Ashly told Stephanie about the disagreement between herself and Appellant T830-831. Ashly did not hear all of the conversation T838. Appellant was upset that his relationship with Stephanie might be ending T838. Ruth Ashly left for work on Tuesday, January 26, 1993, at 7:15 a.m. т826.

Stephanie Lawrence testified that she broke up with Appellant on January 25, 1993 T880. Lawrence had broken up with Appellant before T880. On the prior occasions, Lisa Dyke got Appellant and Lawrence back together T880. The breakup was due

to a dispute between Appellant and Ruth Ashly T881. Appellant told Lawrence that they could work it out T882. Lawrence told Appellant not to go around her sister's house T883. Appellant tried to page Lawrence 4 or 5 times T884. Lawrence's number was 584-7740 T884. Appellant had been to Ashly's apartment a number of times T886-887. Lawrence's brother had been dating Lisa Dyke T888. The brother moved out of town shortly after Dyke was killed T888.

Elena Gardner was a 911 operator for the Ft. Lauderdale Police Department in January of 1993 T861,864. A tape of a 911 call that Gardner received from Apartment 203 at 801 Northeast 28th Street was introduced into evidence T871,1479;SR66.

Officer Brian Gillespie of the City of Wilton Manors testified that he was dispatched to N.E. 8<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Apartment 203 at 8:33 a.m. T706,707,708. Gillespie knocked on the door of Apartment 203 T1380. He could hear a baby crying T714. Lisa Dyke answered the door T715. Dyke unlocked the door to let Gillespie inside T726-27. She was nude but then covered herself with some clothes T715. She was bleeding T715. There appeared to be a number of stab wounds to her body T715. Gillespie took her to a couch and began speaking to her T818. Paramedics began treatment T718. Gillespie asked her name and asked her what happened T717,719. Gillespie asked Dyke who harmed her and she

said, "Rodney" T7205. Gillespie asked Dyke who Rodney was T720. Dyke said that Rodney was Ruth's sister's boyfriend T720. Dyke also stated, "he raped me" T721.

Detective Robert Cerat testified that he arrived at the crime scene at 9:18 a.m. on January 26, 1993 T735-36. A knife was found with a red substance on it T754-55. Prints could not be lifted from the knife T776. There was a red substance on the bathroom door T753. There appeared to be a ridge of a print in the substance T754. Cerat collected the purple pants Dyke had when the officers entered the apartment T1462. Cerat collected woman's underpants and shorts covered with a red substance T757. Twenty-six latent prints were lifted from the scene T804. There were no signs of a forced entry and the front door was the only point of entry T743,807.

Detective Daniel James testified that on January 26, 1993, he went to the hospital to see Lisa Dyke T913. James told Dyke to communicate by nodding up and down or sideways T915. Dyke was unable to speak due to tubes in her mouth T914. James had prepared a photo lineup and James asked Dyke if a person in the photos did this to her T920. Dyke nodded, "Yes." Dyke tapped photo number 5 T920. On January 28, James photographed Dyke T924. James photographed wounds he suspected were bite marks T924. James photographed areas of the upper left chest, the

breast, arm, and back of shoulder T924. Dyke also pointed toward her groin area T925. James later photographed a cut on Appellant's hand T929. James was also at the scene when Gillespie was questioning Dyke and heard her say, "Ronnie did this to me, and he is Ruth's sister's boyfriend" T910. Dyke also said a phone number which turned out to belong to Julius Lawrence T910.

Detective Mark Suchomel lifted latent prints from the apartment T899-900.

Dr. Ronald Wright performed the autopsy on Lisa Dyke on February 14, 1993 T1136. Dyke had numerous stab wounds from medical procedures T1146. One wound preceded medical efforts T1146. There was a wound in the center of the chest through the chestbone T1146. It measured 4 inches from the skin T1148. Dyke had 6 stab wounds to the back T1152. They were knife wounds T1154. The wounds were consistent with exhibit 31 and a lot of other knives T 1156. There were "so-called defensive wounds" on the hands T1156. The labeling of these wounds does not mean that they were caused by a defensive action T1181. Dyke also had bitemarks on her body T1156-60.

Dr. Wright testified that the cause of death was the disease or injury which was initiated by the lethal chain of events which is multiple stab wounds T1173. Dyke was killed by

the healing process T1172. The brain does not work as well with the loss of blood T1176-77. The short and long term memory go T1177. Loss of blood affects understanding and communication T1177. Less than half the people with these wounds would not be conscious if not treated for these wounds for ½ hour T1179. A person under this condition could hallucinate T1180. People can say things that are not true due to this type of trauma T1181. Dyke was under a large number of medications T1188. She was on medication that would impact abilities to reason T1189. The measuring of the bitemarks was not done in a method to reduce distortion T1188. Without proper measuring there can be distortion which can result in the comparison being untrue T1186.

Latent fingerprint examiner Fred Boyd testified that he received 35 prints for examination in this case T1036. Three of the prints Boyd examined were of value for identification T1067. Two prints match Appellant T1034. There was one additional print of value which Boyd was unable to identify with anyone T1036,1042.

Officer David Jones testified that he went to Appellant's residence at 6:00 p.m. on January 26, 1993 T1058. Jones then went to the Crisis Center on 19<sup>th</sup> Street where he came into contact with Appellant T1058. Jones transported Appellant to

the police station T1060. When questioned by Jones, Appellant indicated that he knew Lisa Dyke T1063. Appellant denied that the had been over to her apartment T1063. When asked about a Band-Aid on his hand, Appellant said that he had cut his hand T1063. Appellant was arrested T1063. Dyke Died on February 14 T1064.

Kevin Noppinger, from the crime lab of the Broward County Sheriff's Office, testified that he examined clothing for the presence of blood stains T948. Noppinger received samples from both Lisa Dyke and Appellant T948. Noppinger did not find any evidence of seminal fluid on Dyke's panties T967,973.

Donna Marchese is a forensic serologist with the Broward County Sheriff's Office T1073-74. Marchese performed a DNA-RFLP analysis on numerous items T1076. The DNA on the dust ruffle and knife matched Lisa Dyke's T1100. The DNA from the sweatpants and child's shirt matched the DNA from Appellant T1100. Marchese was unable to get a DNA profile from the underwear or pants T1102. The frequency occurrence of a match of Appellant's DNA in the black population is 1 in 120 million T1107. Marchese admitted that mistakes happen in the Broward laboratory as recently happened T1120.

Dr. Martin Tracy testified that he is a professor of biology and in 1995 was asked to review the statistical

interpretation in this case T1198. He was never asked to interpret the initial data T1198. The DNA sizing in this case was within the window margin of error T1201. The data bases used had approximately 200 people in the Caucasian data base and approximately 200 people in the African American data base T1205. The frequency match of Appellant's DNA is 1 in 120 million T1208. The frequency match of Dyke's DNA is 1 in 2 billion T1208.

Dr. Richard Souviron is a dentist specializing in forensic dentistry T1217. Souviron was asked to become involved in this case by the prosecutor's office T1222. Souviron opined that: State's Exhibit 46 is a human bite mark on an arm; State's Exhibit 43 is a human bite mark on a back; State's Exhibit 45 is a bite mark T1226-1230. In Souviron's opinion within reasonable dental certainty the teeth of Appellant left the State's Exhibit 45 bite mark T1244. It was doubtful that the force used in the Styrofoam model used for comparison purposes was the same amount of force that was used T1243. The bite mark on the back versus the breast was different because of distortion G1249. Τn Souvirin's opinion the bite mark on the breast was made by Appellant T1251. The molds that Souviron used did not reflect the distortion in the photos of the bite marks T1255. Bite mark comparison is more positive on exclusion than inclusion

T1251.The difference between the bite mark on the victim and Appellant's teeth was based on distortion T1256. The American Board of Forensic Odontology sets guidelines for photo bite marks and analysis T1253. State's Exhibit 45 does not conform to those guidelines T1253. The purpose of the guidelines is to prevent or minimize distortion T1253.

Courtney Myloff lived in apartment 202 of Wilton Manors T846. At eight o'clock in the morning Myloff heard a female screaming for help from the next apartment #203 T850. The screaming lasted for 5 minutes T850. The screaming could have been less than 5 minutes T854. Police arrived 20 to 30 minutes after the screaming stopped T852. Myloff did not call the police T855.

Wanda Walters is a registered nurse who cared for Lisa Dyke at the Broward General Medical Center T993-93. Walters treated Dyke's upper left back wound, a thumb on her left hand, and her left groin area T994.

Elliot Matregrano is the director of medical records for Wexford Health services which provides medical care fo inmates at the Broward County Sheriff's Office T1286. The medical records of Appellant were placed into evidence T1286.

Clinita Lawrence testified that Appellant is her younger brother and he was living in her home in 1993 T1292. On the

morning of January 26, 1993, Appellant was very unlike himself he was high T1294. Lawrence saw Appellant prior to leaving for work T1296. Lawrence usually leaves for work a little before 8 a.m. T1296. Lawrence heard her husband tell Appellant to feed the dog T1296. Appellant did not respond which is unusual T1296. Lawrence called to Appellant and asked why he did not get up T1297. There was no response T1297. Lawrence wondered what was going on T1298. Lawrence called out again and Appellant came out of his room T1300. Appellant looked as though he was hallucinating, he was talking out of his head, he was talking to the dog T1300. Appellant was so high he could barely stand up T1301. Lawrence asked what was wrong but could not get any response T1301. Lawrence did not want to leave Appellant in the condition he was in T1301-02. Lawrence took Appellant to a facility T1302. When they got there the facility people were waiting T1303. Appellant's pupils were dilated and his speech slurred T1312.

Appellant testified that he lived with his sister and her husband in 1993 T1329. Appellant considered them his mom and dad because they raised him T1330. Appellant was dating Stephanie Lawrence at that time T1330. Appellant had visited Ruth Lawrence's residence numerous times T1331. On January 25, Appellant, Stephanie and Ruth had a three-way telephone call

T1331. Stephanie wanted to terminate their relationship because of a disagreement Appellant and her sister were having T1332. Appellant was not upset with Ruth T1344. Appellant asked Stephanie to talk about it but she refused and hung up the phone T1333. Appellant called her again but received no response T1333. Appellant never spoke to her again T1333. Appellant was upset about the breakup but was not angry R1334. As a result of being upset Appellant drank and used drugs T1334. He drank a fifth of rum and coke T1334. He had crack cocaine, powder cocaine and weed T1334-35. Appellant laid down on his bed because he did not feel well T1335. The next morning he got up and drank more and finished off the drugs T1337. He did it in the backyard by the pool house T1338. Appellant remembers going to the house but does not know what happened after that T1338. Appellant next found himself in a facility and someone called his name T1338. Appellant was taken to the station and asked some questions T1338. Appellant was then put in the Broward County Jail infirmary for three days T1338. Appellant was given medication for drug and alcohol use T1338.

Michael Elwell testified that on January 26, 1993, he was the director of mental health services in Broward County including the facility at 19<sup>th</sup> Street T1394. It was a Baker Act

receiving facility T1397. One was not free to leave once admitted T1400.

# PENALTY PHASE

Dr. James Ongley testified that in 1984 he was an Associate Medical Examiner and performed an autopsy on Gaynell Jeffrey T1566. Jeffrey died from multiple gunshot wounds T1570.

Appellant's prior convictions for indecent assault and second degree murder were introduced into evidence T1577-78.

Robin Jeffrey testified that she was Appellant's girlfriend in 1984 T1581. She broke up with Appellant T1582. Appellant tried to reunite but Jeffrey's sister intervened T1582.

Sybil Jeffrey French testified that on September 11, 1984, the family sat around and watched TV T1585-86. French never saw her sister Gaynell Jeffrey the next morning T1587. There was blood in the house and in the back seat of French's car T1587,1591.

Deputy D.P. Edwards testified that Appellant came to the residence of Kimberly Tynes and forced her in a room and told her he would kill her if she did not comply T1591-95. Appellant penetrated Tynes' vagina with his finger T1596. Tynes said she was in fear T1597.

Arthur Lewis is 39 years old and had known Appellant for all his life T1600. Appellant was the punching bag of the

neighborhood T1601. Appellant was always picked on and was always beat up T1601. He was made fun of and the beating never stopped T1601.

Clinita Lawrence testified that she is Appellant's sister T1613. Their mom died when Appellant was seven years old T1613. Appellant's father was never involved in his life T1614. Lawrence raised Appellant T1620. After their mother's death, they lived in an abandoned car for a while T1615. It was a convertible in the ghetto T1615. When it rained they got wet T1615. This went on for 3 months T1616. They sold bottles and cans to get by T1617. Clothing included things found in the trash T1618. Appellant was very afraid as a child T 1616. He was 10 years old in the 1st grade T1617. He did not do well in school T1617. Appellant was constantly picked on and beat on in school T1618-19. Appellant did not finish school T1619. Appellant had a very, very hard life T1619.

Herman Ruise testified that he is a correctional officer who supervised Appellant for 3 years T1631. Appellant got along with other inmates and stayed out of trouble T1630. Ruise never had a problem with Appellant T1629.

Dr. Michael Walczak is a doctor of psychology T1632. Dr. Walczak testified that Appellant had a troubled background T1634. After Appellant's mother died, Appellant lived with his

sister in the back of a car T1634. Appellant was very small and constantly abused in school T1634. Appellant did not have a mother and father to teach him right from wrong T1635. He did not have role models T1635. Appellant used alcohol and cocaine T1635. Appellant was able to hold a job but was always fired for stealing money to buy drugs T1636. The drugs Appellant took could affect his memory T1637. After the incident Appellant spent 3 days in a detox facility because they were concerned Appellant was having detox problems T1637. Dr. Walczak opined that Appellant was not able to function normally at the time of the offense due to being under the influence of a significant amount of intoxicants T1638.

Dorthea Simmons testified that she was Appellant's next door neighbor T1609. Simmons thought Appellant was on drugs because of the way he was acting T1610. Simmons testified that after prison Appellant tried to help himself and tried to find work T1611.

Carter Powell is a corrections deputy who has known Appellant for 2 years T1605. Appellant has been a model prisoner T1606. He has caused no problems T1606. Appellant has no disciplinary reports T1606. Most of the conversations that Powell has had with Appellant have been about their common faith

in Jesus T1607. Carter has seen Appellant attend church services T1607.

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Out-of-court statements of Lisa Dyke were not admissible as hearsay exceptions involving excited utterances or dying declarations. Under the excited utterance exception if there is time for reflection it must be shown that the declarant did not engage in reflection. The state could not prove this. The fact that the declarant is excited will not overcome the lack of proof of reflection. Under the dying declaration exception, it must be shown that the declarant had an absence of all hope of living. The state did not prove this. Dyke did not testify in this case. The admission of the out-of-court statements violated Appellant's confrontation rights. The admission of the statements was not harmless. It was reversible error to admit the statements.

2. During the guilt phase, the trial judge took the role of the prosecutor in advocating for the admission of evidence against Appellant. The trial court also entered an order admitting this evidence before giving Appellant the opportunity to be heard. During the penalty phase the trial court once again took on the position of an advocate by advocating an aggravating circumstance never offered by the state. The trial

court's departure from neutrality deprived Appellant due process and a fair trial.

3. The jury was permitted to use a transcript of the 911 call, which was created by the state, over defense objection. The transcript editorialized and emphasized certain portions of the statement. The transcript also provided suggestions how to interpret certain words that were not clear on the tape. It was error to permit the jury to use the transcript.

4. Evidence was introduced that Lisa Dyke was pregnant. The pregnancy was irrelevant and its prejudicial effect was greater than its probative value. It was error to admit this evidence.

5. First degree felony murder requires that death occur prior to the end of the felony. It is undisputed that Lisa Dyke died long after (February 14, 1993) the felony had ended (January 26, 1993). It was fundamental error to submit felony murder to the jury.

6. There was insufficient evidence of sexual battery in this case. It was error to instruct the jury on felony murder with sexual battery as the underlying felony and on sexual battery in the penalty phase.

7. It was error to admit the out-of-court conclusion that Lisa Dyke was "raped." Statement as to <u>the facts</u> which constitute a rape are admissible, but the opinion or conclusion that someone had been raped is not admissible.

8. The state failed to prove premeditation. Thus, it was error to deny Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal.

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