IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC04-857

RONNIE KEITH WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Leslie T. Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 North Flagler Drive 9th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

###

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

support of his claim premeditation was In unproven, Williams cites Kirkland v. State, 684 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1996) and Green v. State, 715 So.2d 940 (Fla. 1998). Both are distinguishable. In Kirkland, the defendant resided with the victim and was tempted by her sexually. Id. at 735. While Williams socialized with Lisa, they saw other people, did not live together, and there was no evidence of temptation. It was less than 12 hours after Ruth and Lisa were involved in Williams break-up from Stephanie, that he raped and stabbed Lisa. The force needed to inflict the major wounds, and the fact the attack progressed from room to room is proof of premeditation.

<u>Green</u> does not further Williams' position in that the victim there was drunk and "got crazy." <u>Id</u>. 943. The weapon was never located, nor was there testimony the defendant possessed a knife. <u>Id</u>. Here, the weapon was found, and Williams had fresh cuts to his hand consistent with slippage down the blade. Lisa

premeditation from repeated stabbing to victim's throat after an argument)

was not drunk; there was no indication she provoked the attack.

Even if this Court finds premeditation was not proven, felony murder/sexual battery was established (ROA.4 382) as addressed in **Points V - VII** and reincorporated herein. Hence, this Court should affirm. <u>See San Martin</u>, 717 So.2d at 470 (finding reversal unnecessary where alternative theory of firstdegree murder is supported by sufficient evidence).

#### POINTS IX AND X

## THE INDICTMENT GAVE PROPER NOTICE OF FIRST-DEGREE MURDER, THEREBY, PERMITTING THE STATE TO OFFER ALTERNATE THEORIES OF PREMEDITATED AND FELONY MURDER (restated)

In <u>Point IX</u>, Williams makes a Fifth Amendment claim suggesting the indictment was constructively amended when the State argued both premeditation and felony murder, even though the indictment charged only "premeditated design." (ROA.1 1-2; IB 57-60). Continuing in <u>Point X</u>, he challenges the dual theory of prosecution claiming he had insufficient notice in violation of his Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights.<sup>45</sup> (IB 60-61). Both points challenge his conviction under Article I of the Florida Constitution. Williams failed to move to dismiss the indictment, thus, the claim is not preserved. Moreover, these challenges have been denied repeatedly.

 $<sup>^{45}</sup>$ The standard of review for the denial of a motion for a bill of particulars is abuse of discretion. <u>See Harrison v.</u> <u>State</u> 557 So.2d 151, 151 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

On July 2, 2002, prior to the retrial, Williams filed a motion for a statement of particulars as to aggravators and theory of prosecution (ROA.2 235-41). When the pre-trial motions were argued, he merely mentioned those challenging the death penalty. He did not argue for a statement of particulars or for the State to elect a theory of prosecution (SROA.1 59-63). He failed to get a ruling on this matter and it is unpreserved.<sup>46</sup> Even assuming there was a denial, the matter remains unpreserved because he never moved to dismiss his indictment. See Carver v. State, 560 So. 2d 258, 260 (Fla. 1st DCA) (opining "where the charging allegations are merely incomplete or imprecise, the failure to timely file a motion to dismiss under Rule 3.190(c) waives the defense, and it cannot be raised for the first time on appeal"), rev. denied, 574 So. 2d 139 (Fla 1990); White v. State, 446 So. 2d 1031, 1035-36 (Fla. 1984); Huene v. State, 570 So. 2d 1031, 1031-32 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). The pith of Williams' complaint is that the indictment incomplete because it did not allege felony murder was separately, and the court's instruction on felony murder improperly amended the indictment.

Although Williams filed a motion relating to a request for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup><u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 730, 740 (Fla. 1994) (finding claim procedurally barred where judge heard motion, but never ruled); <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 437 So. 2d 1091, 1094 (Fla. 1983); State v. Kelley, 588 So. 2d 595, 600 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

the State to identify its theory of prosecution, he did not move to dismiss the indictment. Subsequently, he moved to preclude the giving of the felony murder instruction claiming the State had not proven sexual battery, but he did not argue lack of notice. Williams never moved to dismiss the indictment; this issue is unpreserved. Steinhorst, 412 So.2d at 338.

Even were his allegations preserved, they are meritless. Not only did Williams have notice,<sup>47</sup> but the law permits the State to prosecute under dual theories of premeditated and felony murder. In <u>Woodel v. State</u>, 804 So.2d 316, 322 (Fla. 2001), relying upon <u>Gudinas v. State</u>, 693 So.2d 953, 964 (Fla. 1997), this Court rejected the claim that the indictment was constructively amended when the court gave the premeditated and felony murder instructions. <u>See Consalvo v. State</u>, 697 So.2d 805, 812 (Fla. 1996); <u>Wright v. State</u>, 688 So.2d 298, 301 n.4 and 6 (Fla. 1996); <u>Kearse v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 677, 682 (Fla. 1995); Armstrong v. State, 642 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>To the extent Williams claims he did not have notice, this Court should take judicial notice of the original trial, which counsel informed the judge he read, as well as the mistrial wherein premeditated and felony murder/sexual battery were argued (Supreme Court case number 89,886; ROA.4 360; SROA.2; SROA.10 1223-38; SROA.11 1292; SROA.12 1346). In the ruling on admission of Lisa's pregnancy, the judge noted the State was alleging felony murder/sexual battery. (SROA.11 1292). The prosecutor, in opening statement for the second trial, mentioned the sexual battery and multiple stab wounds (SROA.12 1329-30, 1339-43). Williams was well aware of the State's theories.

#### POINT XI

## THE JURY WAS INSTRUCTED PROPERLY REGARDING THE PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE (restated)

Again Williams claims the indictment failed to allege felony murder and this asserted defect caused fundamental error as the standard instruction<sup>48</sup> on the presumption of innocence failed to inform the jury the presumption applied to the felony murder. The State disagrees. This Court should affirm.

Williams did not raise this issue below; he did not ask to have the standard instruction changed or given before each offense defined. It is unpreserved. <u>State v. Delva</u>, 575 So.2d 643, 644 (Fla. 1991) (instructions "are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule, and, absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred"). "Fundamental error is the type of error which 'reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" <u>Globe v. State</u>, 877 So.2d 663, 677 (Fla. 2004) (citations omitted). <u>See Battle</u> v. State, 911 So.2d 85, 88-89 (Fla. 2005).

After outlining the elements of each charged and lesser included crime, the court gave the standard instruction:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>The standard of review applied to a decision to give a jury instruction is abuse of discretion. <u>See James v. State</u>, 695 So.2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997); Kearse, 662 So.2d at 682.

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. This means you must presume or believe that the defendant is innocent. The presumption stays with the defendant, as to each material allegation in the indictment, through each stage of the trial, unless it has been overcome by the evidence, to the exclusion of and beyond a reasonable doubt.

(ROA.19 1500-01). <u>See</u> Standard Jury Instruction 3.7. Standard instructions are "presumed correct and preferred over special instructions." <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 787 So.2d 747, 755 (Fla. 2001). <u>See Freeman v. State</u>, 761 So.2d 1055, 1071 (Fla. 2000); <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 706 So.2d 1340 (Fla. 1997). Williams has not shown the instruction was erroneous or caused his conviction. Rather, it fully advised the jury of the presumption of innocence and burden of proof for the crimes charged.

Before the court instructed the jury on the presumption of innocence, it outlined each of the charges and lesser offenses to be considered. In that listing were the elements of premeditated and felony murder.<sup>49</sup> Given that the presumption instruction was given after all charges were read, the jury would not be confused as to the State's burden of proof or when Williams was stripped of his presumption of innocence. Fundamental error has not been proven as it was clear the instruction covered proof of first-degree murder. The verdict

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup>The jury heard: "There are two ways by which a person may be convicted of first degree murder. One is known as premeditated murder, the other is known as felony murder." (ROA.19 1491).

form provided: "The defendant is guilty of First Degree Murder as charged in the Indictment. The jury further finds that the First Degree Murder was" both premeditated and felony murder. (ROA.4 382). It would be an unreasonable construction of events to find the presumption of innocence instruction was not understood to have applied to the charged offense of firstdegree murder or that the court had repeat the instruction after each theory of first-degree murder and lesser included charge.

<u>McKenna v. State</u>, 161 So. 561 (Fla. 1935) does not further Williams' position. In it, the court failed to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense or on the presumption of innocence. Initially, this Court found it was not error to have omitted the presumption instruction, in part because the matter was unpreserved. <u>McKenna</u>, 161 So. at 563. However, due to the error in not instructing on petit theft, including the value of the property taken, along with the failure to give the presumption of innocence instruction, a new trial was ordered. Here, the presumption of innocence instruction was given and all lesser charges were outlined. This Court must affirm.

### POINT XII

# THE JURY WAS INSTRUCTED CORRECTLY REGARDING UNANIMITY OF ITS VERDICT (restated)

Williams maintains it was reversible error, a denial of due process and a fair trial, for the court not to instruct the jury

it must find premeditation or felony murder unanimously<sup>50</sup> (IB 64), but he fails to give a record cite where the matter was raised below.<sup>51</sup> The jury was informed its verdict had to be unanimous and it found both premeditated and felony murder.

Relying solely upon Judge Harris' opinion concurring in part and dissenting in part from the *en banc* opinion in <u>State v.</u> <u>Reardon</u>, 763 So.2d 418 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), Williams seeks relief. At issue in <u>Reardon</u> was a challenge to the court's determination that conviction for both aggravated battery and first-degree burglary under the theories of burglary while armed "and/or" burglary with an assault or battery violated double jeopardy under <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 662 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). The *en banc* court noted the verdict form, with its "and/or" option for the underlying felony, it found that it would not have to decide under what theory the jury convicted Reardon of burglary because it did not "preclude the imposition of the aggravated battery conviction on double jeopardy grounds." Reardon, 763 So.2d at 419, n.3. Judge Harris' opinion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>The standard of review applied to a decision to give or withhold a jury instruction is abuse of discretion. <u>See James</u>, 695 So. 2d st 1236; <u>Kearse</u>, 662 So.2d at 682.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>No objection was raised to the jury instruction on this ground nor was the court asked to inform the jury its determination how the murder was perpetrated (felony or premeditated) had to be unanimous. (ROA.16 1263-72; ROA.17 1279-83, 1355-66; ROA.19 1487-88). This matter is not preserved for appeal, and this Court should so find. <u>See Steinhorst</u>.

does not establish precedent for the issue before this Court. Likewise, the citation to <u>Valentine v. State</u>, 688 So.2d 313 (Fla. 1996) in the dissent does not further Williams' position where one of the theories, attempted felony murder, was found to be legally unsupportable under <u>State v. Gray</u>, 654 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1995). Such is not the case here. Not only has this Court permitted a general verdict where the theory of the firstdegree murder was not identified; <u>San Martin</u>, 717 So.2d at 470; but here, the jury noted both premeditation <u>and</u> felony murder were proven. Neither <u>Reardon</u> nor <u>Valentine</u> apply.

Williams points to the judge's comments (ROA.18 1383-1384) for support that if the jury found both felony and premeditated murder proven it would be "unclear how much of the decision was based on felony murder." (IB 66). The court was discussing the propriety of giving an instruction on felony murder/sexual battery based on the bite marks and Lisa's allegation of "rape". (ROA. 18 1369-92). The court's mere speculation as to the import of a possible result does not establish a legal conclusion or error when neither the issue nor the law was before the court, especially when the speculation did not comport with the law on this matter.

The law is settled, there does not need to be a unanimous verdict as to the method (felony or premeditated murder) used in the homicide, only that there was a homicide for which the

defendant was responsible. Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624, 644-45 (1991) (rejecting contention general verdict which fails to differentiate between premeditated and felonv murder is inadequate; jury need not agree on precise theory of murder); Parker v. State, 641 So.2d 369, 375 (Fla. 1994) (finding "instruction requiring jury unanimity as to whether а premeditated or felony murder was committed" was not required "because special verdicts identifying the type of murder are not required"); Haliburton v. State, 561 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1990). In finding а general verdict for first-degree murder was permissible, this Court has effectively determined the method of committing murder is not an independent element of the crime, but merely a means of satisfying the mens rea element. Schad, 501 U.S. at 637. The mere fact the jury made added findings here does not require it be found unanimously, nor does the absence of a specific instruction or proof of unanimity for that method render the verdict unconstitutional. Williams' jury was instructed its verdict had to be unanimous, and it so found. (ROA.4 382; ROA.19 1505-08). The conviction should be affirmed.

Even though not constitutionally required, the record reveals that not only was the verdict unanimous, but the jurors all agreed as to the method used to commit the murder. After the court instructed on first-degree murder under both theories, the jury was informed of the lesser offenses it could consider.

Only after all crimes were outlined did the court instruct the verdict had to be unanimous and the "verdict must be the verdict of each juror, as well as the jury as a whole." (ROA. 19 1505-08). The jury determined Williams was guilty of first-degree murder and the method of committing that murder was shown to be both premeditated and felony murder. (ROA.4 382).

Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. <u>U.S. v. Olano</u>, 507 U.S. 725, 740 (1993)(finding presumption jurors follow instructions); <u>Burnette v. State</u>, 157 So.2d 65, 70 (Fla. 1963) (same). The instant verdict was unanimous, as were the findings on the methods used to accomplish the murder. The decisions were the verdict of each juror and the jury as a whole.<sup>52</sup> (ROA.4 382; 1533-34).

### POINTS XIII AND XIV

# JURY WAS INSTRUCTED PROPERLY REGARDING AGGRAVATION, MITIGATION, AND SENTENCING (restated)

In these points, Williams challenges the penalty phase instructions as unconstitutional for: (1) imposing an incorrect standard of proof for the jury's finding mitigation outweighs aggravation (**Point XIII**); (2) shifting the burden to the defense to prove a life sentence is appropriate; and (3) fails to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup>The State relies on its responses to **Points V-VIII** to show both premeditated and felony murder were established by the evidence, but if one method is found unproven, reversal is not required under <u>San Martin</u>, 717 So.2d at 470.

address when the aggravation and mitigation are in "equipoise" (**Point XIV**). Not only has Williams failed to preserve his challenge to the standard instructions<sup>53</sup> given by making a contemporaneous objection, but he failed to present his "equipoise"<sup>54</sup> argument below, <u>Delva</u>, 575 So.2d at 644; <u>Steinhorst</u>. Further, his reliance upon out-of-state cases and cited federal cases<sup>55</sup> is misplaced as those courts were

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